Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Richard Jensen and Don Christensen dba Bernina Sewing Machin Co. v. Harold L. Barrick and Fred M. Poulson dba Modern Sewing Machine Co.: Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Appeal from order of perpetual stay of execution on question of whether debt for misappropriation of trust funds, conversion of property delivered on consignment, and conversion of mortgaged property and collection of assigned fund and appropriation of proceeds is dischargeable in bankruptcy.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Order vacating District Court's order of perpetual stay of execution, or failing that, remanding the matter for trial on issue of dischargeability of debts in question.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants delivered merchandise (sewing machines. etc.) to Respondents under terms of agreement (R. 4-7) under which Appellants retained title until merchandise was sold to customers for cash (R. 4, Par. 2; R. 5, Par. 4; R. 6, Par. 12), whereupon title to proceeds of sale vested in Appellants (R. 4, Par. 2) to be held in trust for the benefit of Appellants and to be forthwith remitted to Appellants (R. 6, Par. 12). At the time of the execution of said agreement, Respondents acknowledged that they were holding the sum of \$2,831.37 cash in trust for the benefit of Appellants (R. 4). Respondents failed to remit or to account for said trust funds or the proceeds received from sale of consigned merchandise to Appellants or to return or to account for unsold merchandise when demand for its return was made upon them (R. 2, Par. 2 & 3), a grand total of \$5,617.83 (R. 1, Par. 3; R. 3, Par. 7; R. 16).

Respondents further secured their debt to Appellants by a written agreement (R. 8-9) wherein they assigned \$2,710.32 of reserve funds held by finance companies (R. 8, Par. 1-3) to Appellants and expressly agreed that all amounts received by them from said assigned funds, or from the sale of merchandise pledged by third parties in connection therewith, would be held in trust for the benefit of and forthwith remitted to Appellants (R. 8-9, Par. 5). Respondents collected said trust funds but failed to remit any part thereof to Appellants (R. 1, Par. 5; R. 2, Par. 4).

Respondents also further secured their debt to Appellants by executing a chattel mortgage on two motor ve-

hicles subject to existing mortgage thereon in favor of a third party (R. 8, Par. 4). The Appellants' chattel mortgage was not recorded at the request of Respondents and because of the prior mortgage thereon. The vehicles were wrongfully sold by Respondents in utter disregard of the mortgage in favor of Appellants and the proceeds appropriated by the Respondents (R. 2, Par. 5). Appellants filed an affidavit for attachment by reason of "misappropriation of trust funds" (R. 10) and a complaint alleging misappropriation and conversion of trust funds, of merchandise delivered on consignment, of proceeds from sale thereof, of funds received from finance companies which had been assigned to Appellants, and of vehicles mortgaged to Appellants and of the proceeds received therefrom (R. 1-9), and obtained a judgment by default against the Respondents (R. 16), after the Respondents had filed bankruptcy (R. 19).

Respondent Poulson's motion for permanent stay of execution (R. 17-18) was granted, and the order entered recited that Appellants' claim was a dischargeable obligation which had been discharged by Respondent's bankruptcy (R. 34). Appellants prosecute this appeal from that order for the reason that the Respondents' debt to Appellants is not a dischargeable debt under Section 17 of the bankruptcy law (11 U.S. Code Annotated 35). The Respondent's discharge in bankruptcy expressly recites that it does not discharge debts which are excepted from the operation of a discharge in bankruptcy (R. 19).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANTS' JUDGMENT WAS NOT DISCHARGED IN BANKRUPTCY BECAUSE OF RESPONDENTS' OBTAINING PROPERTY BY FALSE PRETENSES AND THEIR WILLFUL AND MALICIOUS INJURY TO THE APPELLANTS' PROPERTY RIGHTS.

Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act (11 U.S. Code Annotated 35) reads in part as follows:

"Sec. 17 Debts Not Affected by a Discharge. — a. A discharge in bankruptcy shall release a bankrupt from all of his provable debts, except such as . . . (2) are liabilities for obtaining property by false pretenses or false representations, or for willful and malicious injuries to the person or property of another, . . ." (emphasis added)

Entry of the default certificate (R. 15) and the judgment by default (R. 16) was an admission by Respondents of every traversable allegation of Appellants' cause of action (*Utah Ass'n of Credit Men v. Bowman, Judge,* 38 Utah 326, 113 P. 63), and is tantamount to an admission that the Appellants were entitled to a judgment as prayed. (30A Am. Jur 296, Sec. 223 and cases there cited; 98 ALR 1020; 11 LRA NS 803; *Fitzgerald v. Herzer,* 177 P. 2d 364, 78 C.A. 2d 127). In determining the nature of the cause of action and whether it is dischargeable, the Court will look behind a judgment to ascertain from the record whether the obligation which was merged in the judgment is dischargeable in bankruptcy. *Lyon v. Lyon,* 115 U. 466; 206 P. 2d 148; *National Finance Company of*

Provo v. Daley, 14 U. 2d 263, 382 P. 2d 405; Jaco v. Baker, 48 P.2d 938, 174 Or. 191.

Entry of the default judgment constituted admission by Respondents that they were guilty of willful and malicious injury to the property rights of Appellants within he meaning of the Bankruptcy Act in many particulars, ncluding but not limited to the following:

- (a) Their conversion of Appellants' trust funds held by them in the sum of \$2,831.37 (R. 4).
- (b) Their conversion of merchandise of Appellants (R. 2, Par. 2; R. 4; R. 1-3).
- (c) Their conversion of unsold merchandise of Appelants which they failed to return when Appellants denanded the return of said merchandise (R. 2, Par. 7).
- (d) Their conversion and/or misappropriation of trust inds of Appellants received from sale of Appellants' nerchandise.
- (e) Their conversion and/or misappropriation of trust iunds of Appellants collected from finance companies (R. l, Par. 5; R. 2, Par. 4; R. 8 & 9, Par. 1, 2, 3 & 5).
- (f) Their conversion of a truck and station wagon nortgaged to Appellants but sold by Respondents and the proceeds misappropriated by Respondents in utter disregard of the unrecorded chattel mortgage of Appellants (R. 2, Par. 5; R. 3, Par. 5 and 6; R. 8, Par. 4) which was not recorded at the request of Respondents and by reason of the existing mortgage on said vehicles in favor of a inance company (R. 8, Par. 4).

The debt due to Appellants, which was merged into

their default judgment, is for willful and malicious injuries to the property rights of Appellants and accordingly said debt was not discharged by Respondents' bankruptcy, it not being the purpose of the bankruptcy act to release a bankrupt from a judgment against him as a result of his fraud or his willful and malicious wrongdoing. *Koch v. Segler* (Mo App), 331 SW 2d 126, 78 ALR 2d 1220.

Obtaining property by means of false pretenses

The sale by Respondents of the vehicles upon which Appellants had a chattel mortgage and their appropriation of the proceeds constitutes obtaining of property under false pretenses (9-1-13, UCA, 1953) and makes the liability to Appellants non-dischargeable under the bankruptcy law [Sec. 17(2) supra]. In a like manner the Respondents made their obligation to Appellants non-dischargeable in bankruptcy by their misconduct described in paragraph (a) through (e) above.

Wilful and Malicious Injuries to the property of another

The acts done by Respondents described in paragraphs (a) through (f) above all constitute wilful and malicious injuries to Appellants' property which render their obligation to Appellants non-dischargeable in bankruptcy (Sec. 17[2] supra).

Ill will or special malice is not required, it being sufficient that a wrongful act was done intentionally, without just cause or lawful support. Bank of Williamsville v. Amherst Motor Sales, 234 App. Div. 261, 254 NYS 825, 20 Am. Bankr. Rep. (NS) 623. The default judgment entered in our case conclusively establishes that the acts

omplained of were done intentionally and without just ause or lawful support, which is sufficient without more o prevent the discharge by bankruptcy of the debt owed by Respondents to Appellants.

The property injured need not be tangible or physical. Probst v. Jones, 262 Mich 678, 274 NW 779; 63 ALR 2d i50. The disposal of another's property without his knowledge or consent, done intentionally in disregard of what one knows to be his duty, is a wilful and malicious injury o property which will prevent a discharge in bankruptcy. McIntyre v. Kavanaugh, 242 U.S. 138, 61 L. ed. 205, 37 3. Ct. 38; Mason v. Sault, 93 Vt. 412, 108 A. 267, 18 ALR 1426, 44 Am. Bankr. Rep. 504.

Sale of pledged or mortgaged property by the mortgagor as in our case [see paragraphs (b), (c) and (f) page 5] is clearly a wilful and malicious injury to the property rights of another which prevents discharge of the debt by bankruptcy as illustrated by the following cases:

- (1) Wrongful sale of land subject to unrecorded deed given as mortgage. $Probst\ v.\ Jones, 247\ NW\ 779, 262\ Mich.$ 378.
- (2) Sale of mortgaged mare by mortgagor who appropriated proceeds. *Mason v. Sault*, 108 A. 267, 93 Vt. 412.
- (3) Unlawful conversion of another's shares of stock and disposal thereof, the owner obtaining a judgment by default. *Van Epps v. Aufdemkamp*, 138 Cal. App. 622, 32 P. 2d 1116.
- (4) Refusal of consignee of eggs to return or pay for them. Re Nordlight, 3 F. Supp. 486, 22 Am. Bankr. Rep.

(NS) 481.

- (5) Taking another's cattle and appropriating them to own use. Bever v. Swecker, 138 Iowa 721, 116 N.W. 704
- (6) Failure to pay over to bank the proceeds received from sale of engine which was mortgaged as security for loan. Sabinal Nat. Bank v. Bryant, 221 S.W. 940, 45 Am. Bankr. Rep. 549.

The wrongful appropriation of funds of another as was done in our case [see par. (a), (d) and (f), page 5] is also a wilful and malicious injury to property which prevents the discharge of a debt in bankruptcy, as illustrated by the following cases:

- (7) Conversion to own use by merchant of money collected for creditor on assigned accounts. *Baker v. Bryant Fertilizer Co.*, 271 F. 473, 46 Am. Bankr. Rep. 579.
- (8) Collecting and retaining money from interest in corporation after assigning said interest in corporation as security for loan. *Re Binsky*, 6 F. Supp 789, 24 Am. Bankr. Rep. (NS) 170.
- (9) Collection by employee of wages after he had assigned them to creditor. *Covington v. Rosenbusch*, 148 Ga. 459, 97 SE 78, 42 Am. Bankr. Rep. 400.
- (10) Conversion of unsold consigned goods after demand for their return. *Mathieu v. Goldbert*, 156 F. 541; 42 ALR 2d 906.
- (11) Conversion of money. Young v. City Natl. Bank (Tex. Civ. App.).
 - (12) Failure of an agent to pay over money collected

or his principal is a wilful and malicious injury to the atter's property. In re Stenger, DC 1922, 283 F. 419.

POINT II

APPELLANTS' JUDGMENT WAS NOT DISHARGED IN BANKRUPTCY BECAUSE DEBT WAS REATED BY RESPONDENTS' FRAUD, EMBEZZLEIENT, MISAPPROPRIATION OR DEFALCATION /HILE ACTING IN A FIDUCIARY CAPACITY.

Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act (11 U.S. Code Annoted 35) reads in part as follows:

"Sec. 17 Debts Not Affected by a Discharge. — a. A discharge in bankruptcy shall release a bankrupt from all of his provable debts, except such as . . . (4) were created by his fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation, or defalcation while acting as an officer or in a fiduciary capacity; . . ." (emphasis added)

The entry of the default judgment in this matter is an dmission by Respondents of every Traversable allegation f Appellants' cause of action (see discussion supra at age 6), including but not limited to the failure of ne Respondents to account to Appellants for their money nd property held by Respondents in a fiduciary capacity.

Generally brokers, factors and commission merchants ave not been held to be "fiduciaries" within the meaning f the foregoing statute excepting certain debts from disharge by bankruptcy (42 ALR 2d 896, 9 Am. Jur. 2d ankruptcy 604), however, there are a substantial numer of decisions to the contrary. 42 ALR 2d 902; 9 Am. ur. 2d Bankruptcy 604. The decisions seem to turn on the uestion of the nature of the trust, the "fiduciary" capa-

city mentioned in the bankruptcy statute relating to technical or express trusts and not to those trusts which the law implies from a contract or from the position of parties to a transaction. 16 ALR 2d 1152, 9 Am. Jur. Bankruptcy 602 and cases there cited. Ordinary commercial transactions where confidence is reposed in a person does not create a "fiduciary" relationship within the meaning of that act, however, without question, a trustee of an express trust is in a "fiduciary capacity" within the meaning of that statute. Culp v. Robey, 299 SW 846, 156 ALR 217, Bracken v. Milner (CC MU) 104 F. 522.

As to a part of the transactions between Appellants and Respondents the usual relationship of broker or factor does exist, however, our situation is different in that the parties expressly agreed that a trust relationship would exist.

In addition to the "fiduciary relationship" existing with respect to goods delivered to Respondents on consignment, the parties expressly agreed that a trust relationship would exist in several instances, each of which trusts were breached by Respondents misappropriating the trust assets, including the following:

- (a) Respondents acknowledged that they were holding \$2,831.37 of Appellants' funds in trust for Appellants (R. 4, Par. 1), which funds were never remitted to Appellants (R. 1-3; R. 10).
- (b) Respondents agreed to hold all funds received from finance company reserves in trust for the benefit of Appellants and to forthwith remit said funds to Appellants (R. 1, Par. 5; R. 2, Par. 4; R. 8, 9, Par. 1, 2, 3 and 5). Funds were collected from finance company reserves by Re

pondents and misappropriated by Respondents (R. 2, ar. 5).

- (c) Failure of Respondents to return the unsold mernandise upon demand constitutes a breach of a "fidulary" capacity which bars discharge of the debt in bankaptey. *Mathieu v. Goldberg*, CC NY 156 F. 541.
- (d) Failure of Respondents to account to Appellants or proceeds received from wrongful sale by them of ehicles mortgaged to Appellants constitutes a breach of fiduciary relationship" within the meaning of foregoing tatute excepting such debts for discharge in bankruptcy.

In each of the instances indicated in paragraphs (a) hrough (d) above, an express trust existed between the arties, and in each instance the Respondents violated the rovisions of Sec. 17(4) of the bankruptcy act which revents discharge of debts ". . . created by fraud, emezzlement, misappropriation, or defalcation while acting . . in any fiduciary capacity; . . ." and accordingly Repondent's debt to Appellants was not discharged by his ischarge in bankruptcy.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The issue before the Court is clear. Shall a man be permitted to mis-appropriate funds held in trust by him. merchandise held on consignment, proceeds held in trust for another received from sale of that person's merchandise, to collect and appropriate to his own use funds which have been assigned to another, and to sell property which has been mortgaged to another and appropriate the proceeds to his own use, and then to discharge the entire indebtedness in bankruptcy? The legislature has imposed rather severe penalties and sanctions for conduct of this type. The bankruptcy statute is designed to relieve a man of his just debts, not from debts incurred by fraud. embezzlement, misappropriation, defalcation, etc. by a fiduciary or from debts incurred as a result of false pretenses or wilful and malicious injuries to the property of another. What the Respondents did with the Appellants' property and funds which they were holding in trust and/or wrongfully appropriated to their own use is immaterial. It is clear that the acts done by Respondents were done intentionally and with full knowledge of the injury that would necessarily be sustained by Appellants therefrom. No man should be permitted to take advantage of his own deliberate wrongdoing.

The District Court's order of perpetual stay of execution should be vacated, and Appellants should be permitted to execute on their judgment.

Respectfully submitted,

RONALD C. BARKER Attorney for Appellants 2870 South State Street Salt Lake City, Utah