## **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

# Richard Jensen and Don Christensen dba Bernina Sewing Machin Co. v. Harold L. Barrick and Fred M. Poulson dba Modern Sewing Machine Co.: Brief of Respondents

**Utah Supreme Court**

## STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the District Court ranting a perpetual stay of execution on a default judgnent. The stay of execution was granted on the ground hat the indebtedness sued upon had been discharged in ankruptcy.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellants obtained a judgment by default against espondents in the District Court. The court subsequently sued its order granting a perpetual stay of execution on he judgment.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek an order vacating the District Cour order of perpetual stay of execution or, alternatively, a order remanding the matter for trial on the issue of dichargeability of indebtedness.

#### STATEMENTS OF FACTS

The indebtedness owed by respondents to appellan arose out of business dealings between the parties. Appellants were principals and respondents were factors or cormission merchants. The relationship of the parties we established by past conduct but particularly by a "Co signment Agreement" (R. 4). By the terms of the agreement appellants were to deviler to respondents merchandis particularly sewing machines, which respondents wou undertake to sell. The agreement contained the usu standard provisions of a consignment agreement. Title the merchandise was to remain in appellants. A portion the proceeds of the sales of the merchandise, based upto sales price from appellants to respondents, was to vest and remain the property of appellants and was to be mitted to appellants.

In addition to the Consignment Agreement, the partientered into what appellants describe as a "Condition Agreement," which was for the purpose of providing appel lants additional security for the merchandise turned ovto respondents. By the terms of this second agreeme respondents pledged and assigned to appellants certa dealers' reserve accounts in finance companies and two mot vehicles. The agreements contained a general stateme that monies and proceeds were to be held in trust. Respondents suffered financial reverses and failed to emit funds to appellants for the sale of merchandise. Out f these business dealings respondents became indebted to ppellants in the sum of about \$6,000. In March 1961, ppellants instituted suit against respondents for the inlebtedness. On February 8, 1962, respondents filed a bank-uptcy petition and properly scheduled the indebtedness wing to appellants in the sum of \$6,668.83. On July 31, 962, default judgment was rendered against respondent. Respondent was discharged in bankruptcy on November 20, 962. Subsequently, upon respondent's motion, the District Court issued its order granting the perpetual stay of execution on the said default judgment.

Although appellants' brief contains assertions charging espondent with "obtaining money by false pretenses," "will and malicious injury to property," "fraud," "embezzlenent," "misappropriation," or "defalcation," no such allegations were made in appellants' Complaint.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

APPELLANTS HAVE FAILED TO MEET THEIR BURDEN AND HAVE NOT ESTABLISHED THAT RESPONDENTS' DEBT SHOULD NOT BE DISCHARGED IN BANKRUPTCY.

The Utah Supreme Court has held in the case of National Finance Company of Provo vs. Daley, 14 Utah 2d 263, that in determining dischargeability of a judgment, the court will look only to the judgment and the record of the case upon which it was based. Quoting from the opinion of the Utah Supreme Court at page 266 of the Utah 2d Report, the considerations supporting this rule are set forth as follows:

"In our judgment it better comports with the orderly process of justice to require the plaintiff to bear the responsibility of pleading, proving and claiming the full benefit of whatever character of cause of action he possesses in the original action and of being bound thereby, than to allow another trial upon the same cause of action raising issues which could have been dealt with in the original action. This rule also serves the purpose of the bankruptcy act and at the same time leaves the way open to guard against the discharge of debts of the character excepted from discharge if the facts so justify."

The judgment which appellants claim falls within the exception of Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act relative to obtaining property by false pretenses and wilful and malicious injury to property right, was obtained by default and default judgment (R. 15, 16). No findings of fact or conclusions of law were entered.

An analysis of the plaintiffs' complaint against the respondents dicloses that paragraphs 1 through 5 allege matters of agreement, title retention and trust rights between appellants and respondents.

Paragraphs 6 and 7 allege that respondents did not keep their agreements, and wrongfully appropriated plaintiffs' property to their personal use, and failed to account for certain funds and the disposition of two automobiles on which respondents had given a second mortgage to appellants. There is no allegation in the complaint that respondents obtained money or property by false pretenses from appellants, or that any of their actions were alleged to have been wilful and malicious injuries to appellants' property.

Granting that the failure of respondents to answer the complaint of appellants', and the entry of the respondents' default does constitute an admission of the allegations of plaintiffs' complaint, a reading of the complaint clearly shows that the obligation in question does not come within the exception to Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act because there is no allegation in the complaint that respondents obtained property by means of false pretenses practiced upon the appellants, nor that any act done by them constitutes a wilful and malicious injury to the property of appellants. There is no allegation or showing in the record that

respondents intentionally failed to keep their agreement with appellants or intentionally diverted any trust funds in which appellants had rights. The claims made by appellants with reference to the chattel mortgages given on the automobiles are without merit because such mortgages were second to those in favor of a third party, and there is no claim in the complaint as to what respondents did with the vehicles other than to fail to account to appellants for them.

The cases cited by appellants in support of their argument in Point I as to the wilful and malicious injury to their property are not in point because in each case either the complaint's alleged wilful and malicious injury to specific property rights, or the court made specific findings in the case that the actions of the defendants were in fact wilful and malicious.

The rule announced by the Supreme Court of the State of Utah in the *Daley* case, supra, confine the inquiry in this proceeding to the record of the case as same is presently before this court, and does not permit new findings or conclusions on the question of malice or wilfulness at the appellate court level. For this court to permit otherwise would enable creditors whose claims have been listed in bankruptcy proceedings to relitigate matters of fraud, wilful and malicious injury, and other matters within Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act the second time when they had once elected to bring suit for the claim without setting up such circumstances which may have exempted the claim from a discharge in bankruptcy.

The cases cited by appellants which show that judgments for wilful and malicious injury to property may not

be dischargable under the Bankruptcy Act are not disputed by respondents. The law in this area is clear. However, to take advantage of this exception to the Bankruptcy Act, it is encumbent upon the party claiming his judgment to be within the exception to make a clear showing in this respect. All of the cases cited by appellants on this point contain specific findings in the record of the case that the injury to property did result from wilful and malicious action by the other party. The record in the case before this court does not disclose that respondents were guilty of such action. Having failed to sustain its burden in this respect, this Court should affirm the decision of the lower court in this matter.

#### POINT II

THE RESPONDENTS IN THEIR RELATIONSHIP WITH APPELLANTS WERE NOT ACTING IN A FIDUCIARY CAPACITY WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE BANKRUPTCY STATUTE.

A bankrupt is entitled to have the Bankruptcy Act liberally construed in his favor. *Jones v. Gerts* (C.A. 10th, 1941), 121 F. 2d 782, and *In Re Newman* (C.A. 6th, 1942), 126 F. 2d 336.

Appellants' argument under Point II of their brief is that respondents in their relationship to appellants were acting in a fiduciary capacity, and consequently, by virtue of the exceptions set forth in Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act (11 U.S.C.A. 35), the indebtedness was not discharged. The pertinent portions of that section are as follows:

"A discharge in bankruptcy shall release a bankrupt from all of his provable debts, " " except such as " \* " (4) were created by his fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation or defalcation while acting as an officer or in any fiduciary capacity; " \* "."

It is a well established rule that brokers, factors and commission merchants are not acting in a "fiduciary capacity" as that term is used in the Bankruptcy Act. Crawford v. Burke, 195 U. S. 176; Davis v. Aetna Acceptance Co., 293 U. S. 328; Swift & Co. v, Bullard & Son, 3 F. 2d 814; Royal Indemnity Co. v. Sherman, 269 P. 2d 123; 9 Am. Jur. 2d 604, Bankruptcy, Section 802; see also the cases annotated in 42 A.L.R. 2d 896.

As set forth in the Statement of Facts, and as acknowledged by appellants, respondents were factors, or commission merchants. The indebtedness arose out of the business relationship between the parties. The courts in a long history interpreting the above provision of the Bankruptcy Act, have construed the term "fiduciary capacity" to be one created or established by an express or technical trust and not one arising from implications from contract. Chapman v. Forsyth, 2 How. 202. The reason for this construction of the rule is sound. If the term was construed to embrace every fiduciary capacity, it would be difficult to limit its application — it would include all debts arising from agencies in all cases where the law implies an obligation from the trust reposed in the debtor. The Supreme Court in the Chapman case said:

"Such a construction would have left but few debts on which the law could operate. In almost all the commercial transactions of the country, confidence is reposed in the punctuality and integrity of the debtor, and a violation of these is, in a commercial sense, a disregard of a trust. " ...

" ° ° °. The act speaks of technical trusts, and not those which the law implies from the contract. A factor is not, therefore, within the act."

See also Emery & Kaufman, Ltd. v. Heyl (La. 1954), 80 So. 2d 95 and Shapiro v. Marzigliano (N. J. 1956), 120 A. 2d 490.

In establishing the relationship existing between the parties, their business dealings plus all the written agreements must be viewed and considered as a whole. Davis v. Aetna Acceptance Co., supra. Although the agreements

between the parties contained a statement that certain monies or proceeds were to be held in trust, the agreements could by no means be considered to constitute express or technical trusts. The one was a consignment agreement, the other a conditional or security agreement.

The courts have concluded that a statement in a contract that funds are to be held in trust does not create the fiduciary capacity of which the statute speaks. In *Upshur v. Briscoe*, 138 U. S. 365, the United States Supreme Court used the following language:

"The statement in the paper signed by Andrews, that Briscoe accepts the 'trust,' the statement in the paper signed by Briscoe, that he accepts the 'mandate,' and the statement in the paper signed by Annie M. Andrews, that she accepts the appointment of Briscoe 'as her trustee,' does not create a 'trust' in its technical sense, or make the debt of Briscoe one created by him while acting in a 'fiduciary character.' The relation created was merely the usual one of contract between debtor and creditor. Within the meaning of the exception in the bankruptcy act, a debt is not created by a person while acting in a 'fiduciary character,' merely because it is created under circumstances in which trust or confidence is reposed in the debtor, in the popular sense of those terms."

In American Agricultural Chemical Co. v. Berry (Me. 1913), 87 Atl. 218, the defendant bankrupt was indebted to plaintiff for proceeds of fertilizers shipped to defendant for sale as plaintiff's agent. The contract between the parties contained the following language:

"'All proceeds of sales and goods remaining unsold to be our property and you are to have no title or lien upon said fertilizers, or their proceeds. It is specially agreed that you will hold the same in trust and separate for the settlement of our account with you. All sales shall be guaranteed by you, and the specific proceeds of the same are to be sent to us as received by you; and, until the proceeds of such sales are received by us, the same shall be held by you in trust for us." The court said:

"But this in no wise changes or strengthens the plaintiff's case. The use of the word 'trust' does not alter the relations between the parties so as to create such a fiduciary capacity as would escape the bankrupt act. That relation was fixed by the nature of the transaction itself and grew out of the transaction as between principal and agent, or owner and factor.

In Michelin Tire Co. v. Hearn (Tex. 1916), 188 S.W. 943, defendant bankrupt was sued upon an account based on a contract covering a consignment of automobile tires. The contract provided that the defendant was to hold the proceeds of sale "separate and apart and in trust" for the plaintiff. The court held that this did not create the fiduciary capacity so as to exempt the indebtedness from discharge.

Appellants cite three cases under Point II in their brief. Culp v. Robey, 229 S.W. 846, involved a suit by Culp, a trustee of a trust company organized as an unincorporated association, against Robey, to recover funds misappropriated by Robey while he was acting as trustee of the trust company. It particularly concerns the status of partners and stockholders; the case does not involve factors or commis-

sion merchants. In *Bracken v. Milner*, 104 Fed. 522, defendant was plaintiff's agent, who was given plaintiff's money for purposes of making loans to others and secured by mortgages and deeds of trust. The Court held that in respect of the collections made by the defendant independently of his trusteeship in the deeds of trust, his liability was released by his discharge in bankruptcy. The court did hold that since defendant had made himself the trustee in certain of the deeds of trust, he was as to those instruments a trustee of an express trust and that as to monies collected on foreclosure of the deeds of trust he was acting in a "fiduciary capacity." The court's opinion includes the following significant statement:

"Judge Brown, in Re Basch (D. C.) 97 Fed. 761, has applied the same construction to the term 'fiduciary capacity' under the present bankrupt act, and held that a debt due by the bankrupt in the character of a commission merchant, arising out of his failure to account for the value of goods consigned to him for sale on commission, on a contract to return the goods or their specific proceeds, is not a debt created by the bankrupt's 'fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation, or defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity,' and was therefore released by his discharge in bankruptcy."

In Mathieu v. Goldberg, 156 Fed. 541, the relationship of the parties was that of principal and factor, as here. However, the court's holding was based on a specific finding that the defendant's conduct amounted to fraud and embezzlement. No such allegation is contained in appellants' Complaint. (See Point I of this brief.)

Appellants contend on page 11 of their brief that with reference to the vehicles respondent was a mortgagor, and the failure to account for proceeds received from sale of the mortgaged vehicles constituted breach of a fiduciary relationship. This argument is expressly denied by the United States Supreme Court in the Davis case, supra, which considered the status of a mortgagor of an automobile who had executed a note, chattel mortgage, trust reecipt and bill of sale as security for a loan. The Court held that the liability arising from fraud or misappropriation of the bankrupt while acting in a fiduciary capacity. The Court, speaking through Justice Cardozo said:

"The substance of the transaction is this, and nothing more, that the mortgagor, a debtor, has bound himself by covenant not to sell the mortgaged chattel without the mortgagee's approval. The resulting obligation is not turned into one arising from a trust because the parties to one of the documents have chosen to speak of it as a trust."

In the same general area the cases hold that a bailee is not acting in a "fiduciary capacity," Lewis v. Shaw, 106 N.Y.S. 1012; Sumner v. Richie, 6 N.W. 752; and Herman v. Lynch, 26 Kan. 435, nor is a pledgee, Hennequin v. Clews, 111 U.S. 176; Crawford, supra; In re Toklas, 201 Fed. 377 and In re Ennis, 171 Fed. 755.

As appellants have argued, there is a minority view to the contrary and cases so holding are cited in 42 A.L.R. 2d 896, supra, beginning at page 902. However, it is significant that a number of these cases have been overruled. The United States Supreme Court has consistently adhered to the general rule stated above.

#### CONCLUSION

Respondents' indebtedness to appellants was scheduled in the bankruptcy proceeding, and respondents were properly discharged. There are no allegations in appellants' complaint to the effect that respondents were guilty of obtaining property by false pretenses or that they caused wilful and malicious injury to appellants' property; nor is there any allegation in the complaint that respondents were guilty of fraud or embezzlement. The respondent's relation to appellants was that of a factor; a fiduciary capacity did not exist.

The District Court's order of a perpetual stay of execution should not be disturbed. Appellants' appeal should be dismissed.